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COMMODITY FUTURES
TRADING COMMISSION,

Plaintiff,

v.

KEVIN CASSIDY, EDWAR O'CONNOR
OPTlONABLE INC., DAVID LEE and
ROBER't1\ÖOtt,

Defendants.

The Commodity Futures Trading Commission ("Co

attorneys alleges as follows:

i. SUMMARY

CIVIL ACTION NO.

Complaint for Injunctive and
Other Equitable Relief and
Civi Monetary Penalties
Under the Commodity Exchange
Ac

1. From at least 2003 until approximately May 2007, David Lee ("Lee"), a Bank of

Montreal trader, engaged in acts and practices that constitute violations of the Commodity

Exchange Act, as amended (the "Act"), 7 U.S.C. §§ i et seq. (2002). Specifically, Lee

unawfully mis-marked his natural gas options positions between at least May 2003 and May

2007 ("relevant period") and mis-valued other natural gas options positions froni October 2006

until May 2007. Furher, Lee and varous brokers deceived the Ban of Montreal by concealing

Lee's mis-marking of the natural gas options. Such conduct violates Sections 4c(b) of the Act, 7

U.S.C. § 6b(c), and Commission Regulations 33.10 (a), (b) and (c), 17 C.F.R. §§ 33.10(a), (b), &

(c) (2008).

2. On April 27, 2007 the Bank of Montreal ("Ban of Montreal" or "BMO")

announced that it anticipated losses associated with its natural gas book somewhere in a range



between C$350,000,000 to C$450,000,000. On that date, the CFTC issued a letter to the Ban of

Montreal and its employees informing them to cease any destruction of documents that might be

related to the anticipated losses. Lee, a Ban of Montreal trader; received that notice and

proceeded to delete various incriminating emails that related to his fraudulent conduct, to-wit, 

the mis-marking of his natural gas positions, as is more fully alleged below.

3. Accordingly, pursuant to Section 6c ofthe Act, 7 U.S.C. §13a-1, the Commission

brings this action to enjoin such acts and practices, and compel compliance with the Act. In

addition, the Commission seeks civil penalties and such other ancilaxy relief as the Court deems

necessary or appropriate under the circumstances. Unless restrained and enjoined by this Court,

there is a reasonable likelihood that Lee and others wil continue to engage in the acts and

practices alleged in ths Complaint or in similar acts and practices, as more fully described

below.

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 6c of the Act, 7

U.S.C. § 13a-1, which authorizes the Commission to seek injunctive relief against any person, or,

to enforce compliance with the Act, whenever it shall appear to the Commission that such person

has engaged, is engaging, or is about to engage in any act or practice constituting a violation of

any provision of the Act or any rule, regulation or order there under.

5. Venue properly lies with this Court pursuant to Section 6c(e) ofthe Act, 7 U.S.C.

§ 13a-1(e), in that the acts and practices in violation of the Act have occurred, are occurrng, or

are about to occur within this District.
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III. THE PARTIES

6. Plaintiff Commodity Futures Trading Commission is an independerit federal

regulatory agency that is charged with the responsibility for administering and enforcing the

provisions of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 1 et seq., and the regulations promulgated there under, 17

C.F.R. §§ 1 et seq. One of its core responsibilities is to protect the public interest by deterrng

and preventing fraud and disruptions to market integrty. 7 U.S.C. § 5 (2002).

7. David Lee is an individual residing in New Jersey. Lee was anaturalgas trader

for the Ban of Montreal from approximately March 2000 until March 2007. Lee's place of

employment while at the Bank of Montreal was 3 Times Square Plaza New York, New York

10036. Lee is no longer employed by the Ban of MontreaL. Whle employed at the Bank of

Montreal, Lee earned a base salary and was eligible for a bonus based upon the profitability of

his trading activities.

8. Defendant Robert Moore ("Moore") is an individual residing in New Canaan, CT.

Moore became the executive managing director for BMO Commodity Derivatives Group in spring

2000. Moore's place of employment while at the Ban of Montreal was 3 Times Square Plaza New

York, New York 10036. Moore is no longer employed by the Ban of MontreaL.

9. Defendant Option able, Inc. ("Optionable") was incorporated in the state of Delaware

on February 4, 2000. Optionable provided brokerage services in commodity derivatives transactions.

BMO was a client of Optionable. The company is located at 465 Columbus Avenue, Valhalla, NY

10510. It was previously located at 555 Pleasantvile Road, Suite 10, Briarcliff Manor NY 10510.

Edward O'Connor ("O'Connor") is listed as the registered agent for the servce of process. Kevin

Cassidy ("Oissidy") served as Chief Executive Offcer ("CEO") from approximately March 2001
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until March 2004. O'Connor then replaced Cassidy, who became a consultant to the company. In

October 2005, Cassidy again became the CEO, and O'Connor resumed the role of President.

10. Defendant Kevin P. Cassidy is an individual currently residing in Briarcliff

Manor, NY. Cassidy was a "voice broker" for BMO during the relevant period. Cassidy was

Lee's primary voice broker during the relevant period. Cassidy was the CEO of Optionable from

March 2001 until March 2004, and then resumed the role of Option able's CEO in October 2005.

He resigned that role on May 14, 2007. During the interlude between his two terms as

Optionable's CEO, Optionable offered shares of its stock to the public. Cassidy was charged

with credit card fraud and money laundering in Florida in 1993. Us. v. Kevin P. Cassidy, Case

No. 93-CR-8037. In 1996, he pled guilty to two felony counts and was sentenced to 30 months

in prison. He was released from prison in 1999. Cassidy was also convicted of tax evasion in

New York in 1993 and sentenced to six months in prison, followed by three years probation.

us. v. Kevin P. Cassidy, Case No. 93-CR-0078. In 1987, Cassidy was charged with wire fraud

in Massachusetts. Us. v. Kevin P. Cassidy, 87-CR-151. He was sentenced to one year

probation and ordered to pay restitution in 1987. Cassidy's place of employment during the

relevant period was at Optionable's locations in Valhalla and Briar Cliff Manor, New York.

11. Defendant Edward J. O'Connor is an individual currently residing in Briarcliff

Manor, NY. O'Connor served as President and director of Optionable from March 2001 and as

the CEO and Treasurer between March 2004 and October 2005. O'Connor also was an

Optionable voice broker. O'Connor was a voice broker for BMO during the relevant period.

From at least 2006 to 2007, O'Connor performed acts that other Optionable employees,

including Cassidy and Scott Connor, would typically perform for Lee. O'Connor's place of
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employment during the relevant period was at Optionable's locations in Valhalla and Briar Cliff

Manor, New York.

IV. FACTS

A. Background

12. The Bank of Montreal is the fourth largest bank in Canada. BMO also maintains

offices within the United States, including the state of New York. Specifically, BMO maintains

offces at 3 Times Square Plaza, New York, New York 10036. During the time period from at

least 2000 to 2007, BMO operated its Commodity Derivatives Group from the Times Square

location. .

13. Since 2000, and throughout the relevant period, BMO's Commodity Derivatives

Group engaged in a variety of derivative transactions, including energy derivative transactions.

Initially, the Commodity Derivatives Group primarily focused on the provision of risk mitigation

strategies and services to its clients, while it also engaged in a certain level of proprietary trading

for the purpose of increasing its revenue. From approximately the end of 2005 until at least May

2007, the Commodity Derivatives Group significantly increased its proprietary trading in energy

derivatives, particularly natural gas derivatives. Natural gas is a commodity as defined by

Section 1a(4) ofthe Act, 7 U.S.C. § 1a(4) (2002).

14. A derivative transaction is a financial instrument, traded on or off of an exchange,

the price of which is directly dependent upon (i.e., "derived from") the value of one or more

underlying securities, equity indices, debt instruments, commodities, other derivative

instruments, or any agreed upon pricing index or arrangement. Derivatives,involve the trading of

rights or obligations based on the underlying product, but do not directly transfer property.

Derivatives include futures, options, swaps, and swaptions (which are options on swaps). For
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example, a commodity futures contract is a derivative of a physical contract on an underlying

commodity, and an option on a futures contract is a derivative of a futures contract.

15. As with other derivative instruments, natural gas derivative transactions can occur

either on an exchange, formally known as a "designated contract market," or off such an

exchange, in what is called the "over the counter market" ("OTC" market). When a contract is

an e~change-traded contract, a clearing organization becomes the buyer to each seller of a

derivative, andthe seller to each buyer for clearing members. In this way, the clearng

organization effectively becomes the counterpart to every transaction, and the parties' credit

risk is with the clearing organization. When a contract is an OTC contract, the parties to a

derivatives transaction are exposed to the risk that the counterpary wil default on the

transaction. During the relevant period, BMO, through its employees, entered into exchange-

traded natural gas option transactions on a board of trade that is also a trading facility, the New

York Mercantile Exchange ("NYMEX"). See 7 U.S.c. § 1a(33) (2002). Such transactions are

subject to Commission Regulation 33.10. 17 C.F.R. § 33.10 (2008).

B. Lee's Trading and Valuation of NYMEX Natural Gas Options Contracts

16. Lee was first employed by BMO in March 1997. Lee was originally hired to be

an analyst for BMO's Commodity Derivatives Group in 1997. Lee served as an analyst until

approximately March 2000, when he volunteered to become the natural gas trader for BMO.

From March 2000 until approximately April 2007, Lee served as BMO's natual gas trader.

Lee's salary and bonus as a trader were based upon the profitability of his trades.

17. As BMO's natural gas trader, Lee traded, i.e., bought and sold, natural gas

contracts, including futures contracts, options contracts, swaps, and swaptions.
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18. Lee entered into natural gas option contracts entered into on the NYMEX, a

trading facilty, throughout the relevant period.

19. During the relevant period, the vast majority of natural gas options contracts Lee

traded were either American-style or European-style natural gas options contracts, both of which

are "exchange-traded and cleared" options on the NYMEX.

20. Options can either be "call options" or "put options."

21. A call option is an option contract giving the buyer the right but not the obligation

to purchase a commodity or other asset at a given price (the "strkeprice").

22. A put option is an option contract that gives the buyer the right but not the

obligation to sell a specified quantity of a particular commodity or other interest at a strike price.

23. Lee traded natural gas options that were both "at-the-money" as well as "out-of-

the-money." An option is at-the-money ifthe strike price ofthe option is about equal to the

market price of the underlying instrument. The at-the-money strike price is nearest to the

previous day's close of the underlying futures contract. A call option is out-of-the-money if the

strike price is greater than the market price of the underlying instrument, while a put option is

out-of-the-money ifthe strike price is less than the market price ofthe underlying instrument. 
1

24. By trading in these varous contracts, Lee established positions on behalf of

BMO. The entirety of Lee's open positions was known as his "book." As long as Lee's

positions were held open or maintained, that is, as long as the positions he established in varous

contracts were not off-set by an equal and opposite transaction, BMO was both exposed to

various risks and possessed the abilty to profit from the change in value of the contracts he had

1 By comparison, a call option is in-the-money if the strike price is less than the market price of

the underlying instrument, and a put option is in-the-money if the strke price is greater than the

market price of the underlying instrument.
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bought or sold on its behalf. BMO authorized Lee to trade and maintain open positions in

natural gas contracts for the purose of providing risk mitigation strategies for its clients as well

as for the purpose of speculating on the price movements of natural gas contracts.

25. While BMO authorized Lee and other traders to trade commodity derivative

contracts for the purpose of generating profits for the corporation, it also imposed limits upon

these traders. First, as a general matter, the BMO Risk Review Committee ofthe Board of

Directors anually approved the bank's overall "market risk appetite." This appetite is expressed

in terms of market value exposure, earngs volatility, and stress test exposure.

26. Another manner in which BMO imposed limits on its traders was through its use

of "letters of authority" that set forth the limits imposed upon each individual trader in terms of

authorized products and trading limitations. For example, in these letters of authority, BMO

imposed limits upon the traders based upon value at risk (VaR), stress limits, measures derived

from the Black Scholes pricing formula (i.e., delta,2 gamma,3 theta,4 vega\ liquidity and

concentration limits, loss reporting limits, and authorized products. Through this process, the

BMO's Market Risk Division monitored the traders' compliance with their individual trading

limits. BMO limited the traders in regard to who they could enter into transactions with, based

upon the credit risk of these counterparies.

2 "Delta" measures the sensitivity of an option's theoretical value to a change in the price of the

underlying asset.
3 Gamma measures the rate of change in the delta for each one-point increase in the underlying

asset. Gamma is larger for the at-the-money options, and gets progressively smaller for both in-
and out-of-the-money options.
4 Theta is a measure of the time decay of an option, i.e., the dollar amount that an option wil lose

each day due to the passage of time.
S Vega measures the sensitivity of the price of an option to changes in volatility.
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27. The letters of authority transmitted to BMO's commodity traders were issued by

Moore. Moore knew that traders were required to abide by the limits contained in the letters of

authority.

28. During the relevant period, one of Lee's responsibilties as a natural gas trader

was to assign a value to his open positions on a daily basis. Lee performed this task by

"marking" - or assigning a value to - his open option positions, including both his exchange-

traded and OTC options. To perform this task, Lee used a niatn.ematical modeL. This paricular

method of assigning a value to an open position is known as "marking to modeL." In assigning a

value to his option positions, Lee personally determined the implied volatilties and forward

price curves for the options contracts in which he held an open position. Lee marked to model

both his exchange-traded options as well as his OTC options. Moore knew Lee performed this

function on a daily basis.

- C. BMO's Verification of Lee's Trading Valuations and Calibration ofthe Traders'

Model

29. During the relevant period, BMO possessed certain procedures to verify the value

of its traders' positions on a bi-monthlybasis, including Lee's. This was known as the

independent price verification ("IPV") process. The intended goal of this process was to ensure

that trader prices used to value BMO's trading books are reasonably in line with market prices

quoted by external sources.

30. The BMO IPV procedures provided alternative means by which traders'

valuations were to be verified. One procedure, which the BMO price verification personnel in

the back offce followed, involved the use of broker quotes in the IPV process for NYMEX

natural gas options as well as OTC options. Specifically, the BMO price verification personnel

received from brokers the brokers' view of bids and offers currently available in the market for
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certain options, and option strips. 6 BMO's written policy provided that the products were to be

verified on a bid-offer basis. The BMO procedure identified particular brokerage firms (i.e.,

Optionable and another brokerage firm) as the approved sources for such quotes. BMO

employees responsible for the IPV process believed that the bid/offer quotes they received from

the brokers represented the brokers' independent assessment of the bids and offers currently

available in the market for certain option strips.

31. In the event the IPV process resulted in the conclusion that the traders' valuations

of the selected options and option strips differed from the brokers' valuations of the same options

and option strips, and the difference exceeded a tolerance threshold, then a valuation adjustment

should have been entered in accordance with applicable BMO's accounting standards.

32. A "tolerance threshold" represents the amount that the trader's valuation and the

valuation resulting from the IPV process can differ while stil considering the trader's valuation

to be valid. For example, if a trader values his book at $98,000,000 but the IPV process

determines thatthe book should be valued at $80,000,000, and the bank employs a tolerance

threshold of$10,000,000, then an $8,000,000 valuation adjustment should be taken. In other

words, the broker's estimation of what his book is valued at would be reduced by $8,000,000 in

this example. In this way, the IPV process can diminish a trader's estimated profits, and thereby

reduce his salar and bonus.

33. One of the brokerage sources used in BMO's IPV process for both exchange-

traded natural gas options and OTC natural gas options, i.e. Optionable, was by far BMO's

6 A "bid" is a price quote at which a market participant is wiling to buy a contract. An "offer"

(sometimes also called an "ask") is a price quote at which a market paricipant is wiling to sell a
contract. This meant that BMO employees collected "bid/offer" (or bid/ask) quotes from
independent sources and then used a mid-point in the difference between the bid and offer quotes
as the price by which they would value the positions. The difference between the bid and offer is
known as the "spread".
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primary broker for such products. This meant that the trade flow resulting from BMO' s natural

gas trading activities contributed a signficant amount to Optionable's revenue.

34. In addition to the IPV process, during the relevant period, BMO possessed

certain procedures to calibrate the options pricing model its traders' employed in valuing their

option positions. This was known as the "volatility skew verification" process, or the "VSV

process." In order to verify the skews utilized in the traders' options model, BMO's Market Risk

Division required BMO traders to collect from brokers price quotes between the brokers and.- _. -
other market paricipants, memorialized in instant messages. Market Risk specifically sought

such quotes for longer tenor out-of-the-money options and for pipeline options. BMO's Market

Risk Division specifically requested that such quotes be obtained from market paricipants other

than BMO. BMO employees responsible for the VSV process believed they received bid/offer

quotes between brokers and market paricipants other than BMO traders. The intended goal of

this process was to ensure that skews used to value BMO's trading books were reasonably in line

with other market participants' skews, BMO traders, including Lee, were required to collect from

brokers quotes from market paricipants other than BMO in instant messages and maintain them

in electronic fies for use by BMO's Market Risk Division.

D. Lee's Mis-Markig and Mis-Valuation ofBMO Natural Gas Contracts

35. During the relevant period, Lee knowingly mis-marked his exchange-traded

natural gas options, his pipeline options, and his natural gas swaptions. Specifically, Lee

knowingly input inaccurate implied volatilty values into his options pricing model for various

maturity dates and strike prices within those maturity dates. The effect of Lee's mis-marking

was to overestimate the value his open natural gas options, pipeline options and swaptions. Lee

inflated the value of his book so that it would appear to BMO that his trading was more
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